IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.SC95831

MICHAEL LEE VON ZAMFT, Respondent,

vs.

THE FLORIDA BAR, Complainant.

RESPONDENT'S INITIAL BRIEF

JEPEWAY AND JEPEWAY, P.A. 407 Biscayne Building 19 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130 Tele.: (305)377-2356 Fla. Bar No. 113699

CERTIFICATE OF TYPE SIZE AND STYLE

The size and style of type used in this brief are: Courier New Font; 10 characters per inch.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

The Bar filed a complaint against Mr. Von Zamft charging violations of Rules 4-8.4.(d) and 4-3.5.(a) of the Rules Regulating The Florida Bar. A final hearing was held before the Referee.

The Bar called Mr. Von Zamft.

Mr. Von Zamft holds Bachelor's and Law degrees from the University of Miami. He graduated from law school in 1973 (T.114).

He has worked in the State Attorney's Office since 1995. He presently is in the organized crime/public corruption/racketeering unit.

He was an assistant public defender for eight years, trying felony cases and later capital cases. He was in charge of training for two and a half years (T.114-115).

He entered private practice in 1981 (T.114). He went to the State Attorney's Office in 1995 (T.115).

He was in the legal division of the State Attorney's Office. Those attorneys give advice on appeals, argue motions in complicated cases, and are available when other assistant state attorneys have questions. He then helped dispose of one hundred felony cases (T.116). Since then he has been trying cases and has been in charge of training (T.116-117).

Mr. Von Zamft has been active in Bar matters. He helped create the Criminal Law Section of the Florida Bar. He was the Chairman of the Criminal Law Section.

He has lectured numerous times for the Florida Bar, for the Florida Public Defender's Association, and for the Florida Prosecuting Attorneys Association (T.117). He was one of the founders of the Prosecutors/Public Defenders Training Program that is held annually at the University of Florida(T.117-118).

He is familiar with *State v. Dennis*, the University of Miami murder case. It was a double homicide involving a murder of a football player. He was not involved in the case (T.25).

Flora Seff was the lead prosecutor. The defense attorney was Ron Guralnick. Judge Victoria Platzer was the judge (T.25).

He and Judge Platzer were friends. They had dated three years earlier (T.25-26). He and Judge Platzer had an informal agreement that he would not appear before her (T.26).

He had a conversation with Ms. Seff about the *Dennis* case on May 5, 1998. A verdict had been returned in another murder case (*Lugo*). Mr. Guralnick had been trying it since January (T.27). It was a very complicated, very difficult, very heinous murder case in which the defendant was charged and convicted of the robbery, kidnaping, torture and murder of two people.

He asked Ms. Seff when the *Dennis* case would be tried. Ms. Seff said it was set for July, 1998. That was a problem since Mr.

Guralnick had been in the *Lugo* trial for four months. Mr. Von Zamft said that Mr. Guralnick could not be ready to try another capital case so soon. The second, sentencing phase in *Lugo* was coming up. Ms. Seff said that was a problem and that Mr. Guralnick had no assistance (T.29-30). Mr. Von Zamft knew that Mr. Guralnick had a good two months of work ahead of him in *Lugo* (T.21).

Ms. Seff said that Mr. Guralnick agreed that the trial should be put off (T.30). Mr. Von Zamft asked Ms. Seff if she would like him to speak to the judge about the matter. She said that she would. He did not tell Mr. Guralnick that he was going to speak to the judge (T.35).

Judge Platzer invited Mr. Von Zamft to lunch on May 11, 1998. If he had known that Mr. Guralnick had announced that he was ready, or had insisted that he would be ready, he would not have communicated with Judge Platzer about the matter. If he thought they were not in agreement, he would not have spoken to the judge at all about it (T.35).

Mr. Von Zamft told Judge Platzer that if the case went to trial in July, as scheduled, the potential of a reversal was great. She did not need to have her first capital case reversed. It would not be good for her (T.37-38). His intent was to have the judge grant a continuance in order that both sides would be able to try the case fairly (T.38). He thought Ms. Seff was concerned about the case being reversed. A prosecutor is concerned about obtaining

a conviction and upholding it on appeal. If defense counsel is not ready and cannot proceed properly it is the prosecution's obligation to prevent that from occurring. There is no need to waste a judge's time by trying a case two or three times, especially a complicated murder case because a defense attorney is not ready (T.38). He did not tell Judge Platzer that he had spoken to Ms. Seff (T.41).

Mr. Von Zamft and Judge Platzer had had conversations about law, general advise, etc. (T.42). One conversation concerned reversals. Judge Platzer had said that the attorneys in front of her probably should give her better advice to avoid reversals, so she could make correct decisions. Knowing that, and with his knowledge of what was going on, his view of capital cases that he had tried, and his relationship with her, he talked about a trial that was coming up and did not think that she should make a mistake and try it then (T.43).

Judge Platzer continued the case on May 13 (T.43).

Michael Band from the State Attorney's Office called Mr. Von Zamft and Ms. Seff into his office (T.44). He reprimanded them because of their communication with the judge. They should not have done it. Mr. Band was their superior (T.44-45).

When Ms. Seff mentioned to him that she was concerned that Mr. Guralnick was unprepared for trial she said that they had agreed that they needed more time (T.118).

He believed that he was trying to help the justice system and prevent a miscarriage of justice (T.118). It was simply a matter of scheduling to him. If Ms. Seff had told him that Mr. Guralnick opposed a continuance, he absolutely would not have said anything to Judge Platzer (T.119).

On re-direct, he repeated that he would not have said anything to Judge Platzer if he knew that Mr. Guralnick did not agree to a continuance (T.120).

He spoke to Judge Platzer because of his interest in justice, and his interest in insuring that both sides received a fair trial. He also thought that Judge Platzer's first capital case should not start out with a problem. He went there as Michael Von Zamft. He spoke to Judge Platzer as a friend, not as a prosecutor or because Ms. Seff asked him to do so (T.122-123).

Mr. Von Zamft thought he was helping the judge (T.124).

Judge Victoria Platzer testified. She has been Circuit Judge since $1995 \ (T.45)$.

She recalled having lunch with Mr. Von Zamft on May 11, 1998. Pam England, a mutual friend, was also present. She and Mr. Von Zamft were friends then (T.48). They had dated (T.49). They stopped dating in late 1995 (T.49). She recused herself on all of Mr. Von Zamft's cases (T.49).

During lunch, Mr. Von Zamft said that he had to talk to her about one of her cases. She asked him not to (T.49). He said he

just needed to say something to her and she said no. It was in a light manner because she assumed that he would stop once she said that. He then said that she was making a mistake by forcing the attorneys to go to trial. The defense was not ready. It had not taken depositions. She was inviting a reversal (T.49-50).

She told him no, don't, because she did not want him to talk about any case. There was no impending emergency that required Mr. Von Zamft to speak to her about the case (T.50).

A hearing was held on May 13, 1998. It was a status hearing (T.51). Ms. Seff, and two other prosecutors were present. Ms. Seff reiterated what Mr. Von Zamft had said to her which was that she was making a mistake by forcing the defense to go to trial because it was not ready, it had not taken depositions, and suggested to her that she was making a mistake. She thought that something was fishy because Ms. Seff's comments were almost verbatim to Mr. Von Zamft's. There was a comment about camp that struck her in the wrong way. There was also a rumor going around the State Attorney's Office that she was forcing the case to trial because her kids were in camp (T.52-53). That was just one of her considerations as far as specially setting the case. Nonetheless, it was just too much of a rehearsed script and too similar to what Mr. Von Zamft had said as well (T.53).

Mr. Guralnick was kind of wishy-washy at the hearing. He said that he could be ready. He knew that Judge Platzer had made all

these plans and as a courtesy to the court he would be ready but, if she wanted to give him a continuance — — he basically joined in the request for a continuance. That is why she granted the continuance (T.53). He said that he had taken all the major witnesses' statements and that he would be ready for a July trial if that had to come to pass (T.53).

She granted the continuance not because the State told her that Mr. Guralnick needed more time, but because Mr. Guralnick told her he wanted more time if she would give it to him. He had just been in a major death penalty case for a very long period of time, so she granted the request for continuance (T.54).

She asked Ms. Seff to come back into chambers after the hearing. There was no court reporter. It was just the two of them. She asked Ms. Seff how she would feel if she sent her exboyfriend to tell her how to handle a case (T.54). She just threw it out there because she had such a bad feeling about Ms. Seff having done that that she was personally offended by it. She assumed that Ms. Seff would say I don't know what you're talking about and it really didn't matter, but she did not. She said that she did not know that Judge Platzer had dated Mr. Von Zamft. She said that she thought that Judge Platzer and Mr. Von Zamft were just friends. She did not want Judge Platzer to make a mistake (T.54-55).

Judge Platzer recused herself sua sponte on May 14, 1998. She

did so because it was a death penalty case. Those cases are treated differently from other cases. She was not going to take a chance with there being any appearance of impropriety in the case and at that point she felt that there was. This was predicated upon her conversation with Mr. Von Zamft and with Ms. Seff's comfortable feeling in sending Mr. Von Zamft to talk to her (T.55).

If Mr. Von Zamft had spoken to her of his own volition she would have ignored it. Mr. Von Zamft likes to give opinions on lots of things. That was the nature of their relationship. He just did that. They did not discuss pending cases. They did discuss rulings after she made them. She ran stuff by him since they were friends as she does with colleagues as well. But she would have just ignored it (T.56).

Mr. Von Zamft had never discussed a case that was pending that had an issue which she had to decide. She had to decide whether or not to grant a continuance in the *Dennis* case.

She talked with some judges who are friends, including some appellate judges. They advised her to recuse herself and say nothing. She was very uncomfortable with that because she had read about cases with prosecutorial misconduct and she was concerned about whether this even touched on prosecutorial misconduct. She had the legal unit do some research for her and scheduled a hearing on May 28, 1998. She reviewed the information and felt that it was her obligation as the judge on the case to disclose it and let the

chips fall where they may. Ms. Seff did not appear (T.57). Anita Gay, another prosecutor in *Dennis*, and Michael Band were there (T.58).

Mr. Band said it wasn't appropriate, that Mr. Von Zamft had not only violated whatever rules he may have violated, but worse yet, had infringed on their friendship. She suggested to Mr. Band that he handle it appropriately, whatever he found the appropriate punishment was. She told Mr. Band that as long as she knew that he was going to do something about it she did not feel that she needed to do anything more (T.58).

Mr. Guralnick was offended and suggested that it was not for the State to say whether or not he was ready for trial, and that for strategic reasons he may have elected to go to trial at the time that it was specially set (T.58).

The Bar moved Exhibit 1 into evidence. It is a letter which Mr. Band sent to her after the May 28 hearing setting out what he had done (T.59-60).

On cross-examination, Judge Platzer testified that the letter was written on the State Attorney's stationary by Mr. Von Zamft's supervisor, Mr. Band. He had come to court on May 28, 1998 to try to rectify the situation (T.60). The letter states that it was an in-house matter and that they would take care of it (T.60-61). Mr. Band thanked her for permitting the State Attorney's Office to handle it in-house. Both she and the State Attorney's Office

thought that it was not a matter that should be communicated to The Florida Bar (T.61).

It was Mr. Guralnick who communicated with the Bar (T.63). Mr. Guralnick had been retained to represent Mr. Dennis as private counsel. Mr. Guralnick also filed a motion to dismiss the double homicide indictment on the ground that Mr. Von Zamft had made his passing comment to her (T.63-64).

Pamela England was present when Mr. Von Zamft made the comment to her about continuing the trial. They were at a table in a restaurant. Ms. England had her baby with her. Mr. Von Zamft did not hesitate and whisper in her ear. He was communicating with her about many subjects (T.64). She and Mr. Von Zamft were together at least an hour and a half that day, perhaps longer, because it was his birthday (T.64-65). They talked about her vacation, her family, and a variety of subjects. Mr. Von Zamft's statement about the continuance was just one of many subjects. His comment was very quick. Her absolute impression absolutely was that Mr. Von Zamft made the statement in an attempt to do something positive rather than something negative, that he was attempting to help (T.66). She did not think he was doing anything to sabotage the case (T.66). She did not take Mr. Von Zamft's comment as an attempt to impede and hinder the administration of justice (T.67). In fact, it was just the opposite. He was attempting to do something that might be to its benefit (T.67).

In all likelihood, Mr. Von Zamft mentioned that Mr. Guralnick had been in trial for four months in a murder case and that the penalty, the sentencing phase, was approaching (T.67-68). But she does not remember (T.68).

Mr. Von Zamft did not press the issue. He did not mention it again. There was no importuning on his part after the sixty second comment (T.68).

She was not concerned about Mr. Von Zamft's comment because it did not affect her. She did not pay attention to what he said. He was not going to influence her at all (T.68).

Mr. Von Zamft never mentioned the evidence in the case. He never discussed the prosecution's case or its theory or the defense's theories. He simply said that the matter should be continued, which was a scheduling matter (T.69).

He did not disparage Mr. Guralnick. He simply said that Mr. Guralnick was not ready for trial (T.69).

Respondent's Exhibit 1, the transcript of May 13, 1998 hearing, was introduced (T.69-70).

Mr. Guralnick told her that he preferred a continuance so she granted a continuance. She granted the continuance because Mr. Guralnick said he wanted it. It had nothing to do with what Mr. Von Zamft or Ms. Seff said (T.76). Mr. Von Zamft's statement had no impact whatsoever on the administration of justice in the *Dennis* case (T.76-77). The only thing that persuaded her to grant the

motion was Mr. Guralnick's statement that he was under time pressure and constraints and that it would be better for him and nice if the Dennis case could be continued (T.77).

A hearing was held on May 28, 1998. Mr. Guralnick was there. Mr. Von Zamft was not. She informed the parties of the reason for her recusal. She thought it was absolutely necessary as the trial judge in a murder case that her reason be on the record (T.77-78). She said to Mr. Guralnick "and then, you said of course I would like more time referring that he, you, Guralnick said you wanted more time and that was basically the reason why she granted the continuance" (T.78).

Although Mr. Guralnick had said that he could have been ready, the statements he made on May 13, 1998, certainly showed that he was posturing to obtain a continuance. She granted the continuance based simply on his representations to her of the problems he had (T.79).

Mr. Guralnick filed a motion to dismiss the double homicide on June 19, 1998, about seven days after he filed the Bar complaint. She had continued the trial to September 8, 1998 on May 13, 1998 (T.80-81). She did not announce the recusal and the reason for it until May 28, 1998 (T.81).

She did not disclose the conversation that she had with Mr. Von Zamft because she wasn't even really thinking about it at that point. Then, Mr. Guralnick said, he would like more time if she

would give him more time, but he understood that she had specially set the trial. Predicated upon that and Ms. Seff's strong feelings about having to have a second chair and putting on the record that she had never tried a death penalty case and putting on the record that I had never tried a death penalty case and she apparently had concerns about that as well and that Ms. Brill, another prosecutor was going to in Orlando with Mr. Band on another murder case, she granted the continuance (T.87). On re-cross, it was brought out that, on p.12, she asked Mr. Guralnick if he had anything else and he said no. He never refuted the fact that he needed more time. She confronted him with it and he said of course he would like more time (T.88-89). Mr. Guralnick never said that he was ready for trial and that he did not want the trial continued (T.89-90). On page 10, Mr. Guralnick stated that he wanted to try the case on September 8, 1998 (T.90).

Jerald Kogan, the former Chief Justice of this Court, testified. He presently is the President of the Alliance For Ethical government in Miami-Dade County (T.92). The Alliance is a group of business people, professional people, clergy and educators who have formed an alliance for the purpose of restoring ethical government to Miami-Dade County (T.92).

He was a justice of the Supreme Court of Florida for twelve years. He served as Chief Justice. In those capacities he sat on many Bar cases that the Supreme Court reviewed (T.98). While

sitting on the Supreme Court he was involved in committees and activities concerning the ethical conduct of attorneys, in the broad sense (T.93-94). He was the Chairman of the Gender Bias Study Commission which concerned the ethical responsibilities of persons within the justice system as to their attitudes and conduct towards women. He also reviewed the activities of the Ethnic and Racial Bias Commission concerning the ethical responsibilities of members of the Bar towards minority groups, both racial and ethnic, while a member of the Supreme Court. He and the other Justices approved the disciplinary rules and regulations governing the members of The Florida Bar (T.94).

He has known Mr. Von Zamft for about twenty-five years (T.94). He met Mr. Von Zamft when he appeared before him when he was a circuit judge. He also knew Mr. Von Zamft when he was in the Public Defender's Office. He also knows Mr. Von Zamft as a colleague. They have taught together in the Prosecutor-Public Defender Workshop at the University of Florida for many years. He also knows Mr. Von Zamft as a friend (T.94-95).

He knows Mr. Von Zamft's reputation for truthfulness and integrity among lawyers. It is excellent. He is a truthful person. In his opinion, and from what he has heard from others, Mr. Von Zamft's integrity is the highest.

He is familiar with the allegations against Mr. Von Zamft.

Assuming that Mr. Von Zamft had a conversation with Judge Platzer

about a case that was before her, a capital case, and assuming that he suggested to her that she should grant a continuance of the trial because defense counsel was involved in another capital case which had not yet concluded, and that the attorney would not be ready for the capital trial before Judge Platzer, and that if a continuance were not granted that the conviction, if obtained, aside at some later date because might be set ineffectiveness of defense counsel, his opinion is that Mr. Von Zamft's statements to Judge Platzer did not constitute a violation of the ethical rules of The Florida Bar because the statements certainly did not go to the merits of the case (T.95-96). statements went to scheduling.

His opinion is that Mr. Von Zamft's comments generally were not prejudicial to the administration of justice. He, as circuit judge, would appreciate an attorney who told him that particular information so that he would not be wasting the system's time in trying a case that eventually would be reversed and sent back for a new trial (T.97).

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