#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

Supreme Court Case No. SC95831

V.

The Florida Bar File No. 1998-71,733(11F)

MICHAEL LEE VON ZAMFT,

Respondent.

#### **ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR**

GREGG DAVID WENZEL Bar Counsel TFB #041750 The Florida Bar 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite M-100 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-4445

JOHN ANTHONY BOGGS Staff Counsel TFB #253847 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600

JOHN F. HARKNESS, JR. Executive Director TFB #123390 The Florida Bar 650 Apalachee Parkway Tallahassee, Florida 32399-2300 (850) 561-5600 <u>

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

First, respondent has failed to establish that Bar Rule 4-8.4(d) is unconstitutional. The presumption in favor of constitutionality cannot be overcome by cases applicable to criminal law since Bar proceedings are administrative in nature and only quasi-criminal.

Furthermore, numerous courts have upheld similar rules against constitutional attacks. In contrast to the overwhelming authority upholding similar rules, respondent has offered no case which invalidates rules prohibiting conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice.

Second, respondent has failed to overcome the presumption of correctness of the Referee's findings of guilt. Respondent admits that he gave <u>ex parte</u> advice to Judge Platzer. He offers the defense that his advice was correct. However, the case law is abundantly clear to the effect that the nature (correctness) of the advice is neither material nor relevant.

Third, respondent clearly violated rule 4-3.5(a) which prohibits attempts to influence, among others, judges. Respondent offers no supporting authority for his claim that the subsection in question addresses only conduct and not communication.

Fourth, the Referee recommended a published admonishment. It is clear that

is what the Referee intended. An admonishment is public discipline and thus, its publication is not improper, nor is it inconsistent with Rule 3-5.1(a).

Fifth, the Referee did not abuse his discretion by taxing costs to the respondent. The Bar was the prevailing party. Furthermore, neither the record nor logic supports respondent's claim that costs were unfairly assessed. Absent abuse of discretion , an award of costs shall not be reversed.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I

## THE RESPONDENT HAS FAILED TO MEET HIS BURDEN OF PROVING FACIAL UNCONSTITUTIONALITY OF RULE 4-8.4(d).

Respondent has constructed his argument regarding constitutionality upon a faulty premise. Respondent seeks to define Bar proceedings by quoting from <u>The Florida Bar v. Vernell</u>, 721 So.2d 705 (Fla. 1998) and leaping to the conclusion that Bar rules should be examined from the standpoint of criminal or penal statutes.

In <u>Vernell</u> this court held that due to the <u>quasi</u> - criminal character of Bar proceedings, a party must be put on notice as to the charges which he or she faces. That limited finding does <u>not</u> convert Bar proceedings into criminal proceedings. Respondent ignores Rule 3-7.(e)(1) of the Rules of Discipline which provides:

(e) Nature of Proceedings

(1) Administrative in Character. A disciplinary proceeding is neither civil nor criminal but is a quasi-judicial <u>administrative</u> proceeding. The Florida Rules of <u>Civil</u> Procedure apply except as otherwise provided in this rule. (Emphasis added)

The test for vagueness is more lenient for an administrative rule than for a penal statute <u>Bertens v. Stewart</u>, 453 So.2d 92 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984). Respondent nevertheless argues that the portion of Rule 4-8.4(d) which refers to "…conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice..." is void for vagueness. In order to

sustain that argument, the respondent must overcome the presumption in favor of constitutionality. <u>Florida Department of Education v. Glasser</u>, 622 So.2d 944 (Fla. 1993).

Clearly, respondent has not met that burden. Even if the more stringent standard applicable to a criminal statute is considered, Rule 4-8.4(d) would withstand constitutional scrutiny.

The lack of a definition in a law does not render it unconstitutional. <u>State v.</u> <u>Barnes</u>, 686 So.2d 633 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996). When a statute does not define a term of common usage, such words are construed according to their plain and ordinary sense. <u>State v. Hagen</u>, 387 So.2d 943 (Fla. 1980). Construction can be assisted by resort to a dictionary. <u>Barnes, supra</u>.

A statute need not furnish a detailed plan or specification of acts or conduct prohibited. <u>Wells v. State</u>, 402 So.2d 402 (Fla. 1981), <u>Bertens, supra</u>. If persons of ordinary intelligence can understand the enactment, it cannot be held unconstitutional. <u>The Florida Bar v. Ross</u>, 732 So.2d 1037 (Fla. 1998); <u>Trushin v.</u> <u>State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126 (Fla. 1982). Abstract words are not inherently vague. The words "decency" and "respect" used in the context of decency and respect for diverse beliefs and values, were not void for vagueness. <u>National Endowment for</u> <u>the Arts v. Finley</u>, 524 U.S. 569, 118 S.Ct. 2168, 141 L.Ed 2d 500 (1998). In regard to proving overbreadth of a statute (or rule) which regulates conduct as well as speech, the overbreadth must be <u>demonstrated to be real</u>, and substantial as well, judged in relation to the statute (or rule's) legitimate sweep. <u>Trushin, supra</u>. 1130. The overbreadth doctrine only applies if there is susceptible application to conduct protected by the first amendment. <u>Southern Fisheries v.</u> <u>Department of National Resources</u>, 453 So.2d 1351 (Fla. 1984). There is no first amendment right to give uninvited <u>ex parte</u> advice to a judge.

The identical language and similar rule have been challenged in numerous jurisdictions. In <u>In Re Dorothy Jones</u>, 534 A.2d 336 (D.C. 1987) the former disciplinary rule containing the same language as in the instant cause was upheld. The Court reasoned that:

The disciplinary rules are treated somewhat differently than criminal statutes for purposes of determining whether a particular rule is void for vagueness. In <u>In re Keiler</u>, 380 A.2d 119 (D.C. 1977), the court rejected the argument that the prohibition against conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice was unconstitutionally vague. In sustaining the finding of misconduct, the court stated: The rule was written by and for lawyers. The language of a rule setting guidelines for members of the bar need not meet the precise standards of clarity that might be required of rules of conduct for laymen. (at 342).

In State v. Nelson, 504 P.2d 211 (Kans. 1972), the Court added that the word

"prejudicial" sufficiently defines the degree of conduct expected of an attorney.

Likewise, in Commission for Lawyer Discipline v. Benton, 980 SW 2d 425

(Texas 1998) the Court rejected challenges to the rule based upon vagueness and

overbreadth, stating:

To survive a vagueness challenge, a statute need not spell out with perfect precision what conduct it forbids. "Words inevitably contain germs of uncertainty." Broadrick, 413 U.S. at 608, 93 S.Ct. 2908. Due process is satisfied if the prohibition is "set out in terms that the ordinary person exercising ordinary common sense can sufficiently understand and comply with." United States Civil Serv. Comm'n v. National Ass'n of Letter Carriers, 413 U.S. 548, 579, 93 S.Ct. 2880, 37 L.Ed.2d 796 (1973). Because we are concerned with whether an enactment give "fair notice to those to who [it] is directed," Grayned, 408 U.S. at 112, 92 S.Ct. 2294 (alteration in original (citing American Communications Ass'n v. Douds, 339 U.S. 382, 412, 70 S.Ct. 674, 94 L.Ed. 925 (1950), in scrutinizing a disciplinary rule directed solely at lawyers we ask whether the ordinary lawyer, with "the benefit of guidance provided by case law, court rules and the 'lore of the profession,' "could understand and comply with it. Howell v. State Bar of Texas, 843 F.2d 205, 208 (5th Cir. 1988) (holding disciplinary rule forbidding "conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice" not unconstitutionally vague).

The vagueness doctrine requires different levels of clarity depending on the nature of the law in question. Courts demand less precision of statutes that impose only civil penalties than of criminal statutes because their consequences are less severe. See <u>Village of Hoffman</u> <u>Estates</u>, 455 U.S. at 498, 102 S.Ct. 1186. (At 438).

In Howell v. Texas, 559 SW 2d 432, 436 (Texas Civ.App. 1977) the same

language was upheld in respect to a vagueness contention. The Court declared:

We do not believe that the language "a lawyer shall not: …engage in conduct that is prejudicial to the administration of justice" is so vague and indefinite that it violates the due process and equal protection clauses of the Constitution of Texas. Conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice may consist of any one or more of many acts too numerous to list. See 7 C.J.S. Attorney and Client sec. 23, p. 741,

et seq. However, although the State Bar rule may be in general terms, in our opinion conduct which falls within the above definitions is prejudicial to the administration of justice and is professional misconduct.

The Supreme Court of Kansas has written on the question as to whether State Bar Rule DR 1-102(A)(5) is vague in <u>State v. Nelson</u>, 210 Kan. 637, 639, 504 P.2d 211, 214 (1972):

With respect to issue 3, respondent argues that the word 'prejudicial' as it appears in DR 1-102(A)(5) is unconstitutionally vague and casts a 'chilling effect on First Amendment freedoms'. Respondent's position is unsupported in both instances. The word 'prejudicial' is universally found throughout the legal and judicial system. Specific definitions are found in any dictionary. In <u>Prunty v. Light Company</u>, 82 Kan. 541, 108 P. 802, this court, referring to Webster's Universal Dictionary, defined prejudicial as 'hurtful', 'injurious',

'disadvantageous'. It cannot be seriously contended that 'prejudicial' does not sufficiently define the degree of conduct which is expected of an attorney."

The Supreme Court of Oregon has also addressed the question in Complaint of <u>Rook</u>, 276 Or. 695, 556 P.2d 1351, 1357 (1976).

In Mississippi Commission on Judicial Performance v. Russell, 691 So.2d

929 (Miss. 1997) a judicial disciplinary rule addressed to conduct prejudicial to the

administration of justice was upheld against a vagueness attack. The Court stated

that the language of that provision and interpretations of that language were

"sufficient to put persons of common intelligence on notice of what type of

conduct was prohibited."

The Oklahoma Bar in State ex.rel Oklahoma Bar Association v. Bourne, 880

P.2d 360 (Okla. 1994) ruled against the vagueness challenge. The Court adopted

reasoning similar to that in Russell. They referred to a Maryland case in which the

Court emphasized that "the regulation applied only to lawyers, who are professionals having the guidance provided by case law, court rules and the 'lore of the profession'" (at 362, referring to <u>Bar v. Ficker</u>, 572 A.2d at 506 (Md. Ct.App. 1990).

A judicial rule referring to "conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice" was upheld against a vagueness challenge in <u>In Re McCully</u>, 942 P.2d 327 (Utah, 1997). The Utah Supreme Court held that a statute is not unconstitutionally vague if it is sufficiently explicit to inform the ordinary reader of what conduct is prohibited.

Respondent has provided no case in which a similar rule has been declared unconstitutional. Rather, respondent submits a number of irrelevant criminal cases. The strict construction discussed in <u>State v. Buchanan</u>, 191 So.2d 33 (Fla. 1966) does not pertain to the Rules of Professional Responsibility as discussed above in detail. <u>Buchanan's</u> holding regarding the vagueness of the term "a reasonable fee" in the context of a criminal statute does not pertain to the portion of the rule being questioned herein.

Respondent has also failed to present any reasons why the vagueness of the term "common law duty" in a criminal statute discussed in <u>Roque v. State</u>, 664 So.2d 928 (Fla. 1995) has an application to the facts before this court. This is

- 9 -

equally true of <u>Cuda v. State</u>, 639 So.2d 22 (Fla. 1994) in which the term "illegal" was deemed to be void for vagueness.

Respondent's failure to meet his burden of proof is also apparent in his reliance upon several additional cases dealing with (1) language not comparable to the instant case and (2) criminal statutes. <u>State v. Jenkins</u>, 469 So.2d 733 (Fla. 1985) addresses "official misconduct" which encompassed "any statute or lawfully adopted regulation or rule relating to his office." <u>State v. Wershow</u>, 343 So.2d 605 (Fla. 1977) dealt with the phrase "guilty of any malpractice in office not otherwise especially provided for …" As in Jenkins, the challenge was to a criminal statute. Again, respondent has failed to present any logical reasons or authority which indicate relevance to the rule challenged herein.

Finally, respondent raises the question of how respondent's conduct could be prejudicial to the administration of justice. That constitutes the factual issue presented in respondent's second issue. The Bar will address respondent's query in that context.

Π

## THE RESPONDENT HAS FAILED TO OVERCOME THE PRESUMPTION OF CORRECTNESS IN FAVOR OF THE REFEREE'S FINDINGS.

A referee's findings are presumed correct and must be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support in the record. <u>The Florida Bar v. Rue</u>, 640 So.2d 1080 (Fla. 1994). Undisputed facts in this record support the findings of guilt.

Respondent gave advice to a judge regarding a potential continuance. The communication was unsolicited. In fact the judge told him <u>twice</u> that advice regarding the pending case was taboo. (T. 49-50). Respondent was not an attorney of record and the communication was <u>ex parte</u>.

Respondent offers a rather unique defense. He argues that since his advice was "correct"<sup>1</sup> there was no violation of Rule 4-8.4(d).

No Florida case of record has presented this issue. However, guidance is available from cases in other jurisdictions.

In <u>In Re Keiler</u>, 380 A 2d 119 (D.C. 1977), [overruled on other grounds, <u>In</u> <u>Re Hutchinson</u>, 534 A. 2d 919 (D.C. 1987)] respondent offered the defense that his fraudulent conduct produced the right result. The Court stated:

We cannot agree with respondent's position. He fails to realize that the prohibition against "conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice" bars not only those activities which may cause a tribunal to reach an incorrect decision, but also conduct which taints the decision making process. <u>Improper conduct may prejudice the administration</u> of justice even though it fosters a correct decision. (at 124, 125).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>There is obviously an issue as to whether in fact it was "correct", but that is not material. Respondent's argument merely reinforces the conclusion that he does not understand that (nonparty) <u>ex parte</u> communication with a judge regarding a pending case is prejudicial.

The logical implication of respondent's position is that any individual who has an opinion regarding a matter in any case and who believes that (s)he is "right" or "correct" may become a self-anointed judge and join the decision making process by contacting the judge. Respondent's theory would convert the administration of justice into a circus. As this Court stated in <u>The Florida Bar v.</u> <u>Calhoon</u>, 102 So.2d 604, 608 (Fla. 1988):

...we are impelled to the inescapable notion that any conduct which brings into scorn and disrepute the administration of justice demands condemnation and the application of appropriate penalties.

In <u>In Re Bemis</u>, 938 P. 2d 1120 (Ariz. 1997) the respondent expressed the belief that <u>ex parte</u> communications were violative of the rule prohibiting conduct prejudicial to the administration of justice only when one seeks an unfair advantage. The Court rejected that argument.

The Court also noted "respondent's continued unwillingness to acknowledge the wrongfulness of his conduct." Further, it referred to the American Bar Association which had published this salient response:

"<u>Ex parte</u> communications are barred even if it is not clear that the lawyer intended to influence the judge." "ABA Center for Professional Responsibility, Annotated Model Rules of Professional Conduct, 338 (3rd edition, 1996)"

Similarly, the fact that an appellate court had already decided a case in regard to which an attorney offered <u>ex parte</u> advice was held to be immaterial in <u>In</u>

<u>Re Roy B. Thompson</u>, 940 P. 2d 512 (Or. Ct. App. 1998). Whether or not Thompson's gratuitous advice was "correct" or influenced the Court to rule in a particular manner was immaterial. The Oregon Court held that Thompson's conduct was prejudicial to the administration of justice.

In <u>Office of Disciplinary Counsel v. Ferreri</u>, 727 N.E. 2d 908 (Ohio 2000), respondent, a judge, indulged in <u>ex parte communications</u> with the representatives of a party to litigation (an agency) regarding the consolidation of cases, a procedural matter as in this case.

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